2002

# In the Matter of the Adoption of Halloway v. Navajo Nation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Does the State of Utah have jurisdiction to terminate the parental rights of an enrolled Navajo Indian, who, at all times pertinent, resided on the Navajo reservation, and whose child, also an enrolled Navajo Indian, was removed from the reservation without the consent of the natural mother or the consent of his custodial grandmother?

2. Does the consent of the natural mother to adoption and subsequent withdrawal of consent constitute abandonment by the mother so as to justify a finding that the child's domicile shifted from that of the mother or custodial grandparent, residing on the Navajo reservation, to the petitioners for adoption, residing in the State of Utah?

3. Was the trial court's denial of Full Faith and Credit to the tribal court order based on a finding of each of timeliness correct?

4. Was the trial court's decision to terminate the parental rights of the natural mother and to enter the Decree of Adoption correct under the Indian Child Welfare Act, the laws and Constitution of the State of Utah, and the Constitution of the United States?

5. Did the trial court err in finding that rehabilitative services had been provided to the natural mother and had proved ineffective?

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Reference is made throughout this Brief to the Transcript of the Hearing of April 7, 1983 (hereinafter "Transcript I"), and the Transcript of the Hearing of October 22, 1984 (hereinafter "Transcript II").

1. Jeremiah Halloway (hereinafter "Jeremiah") was born on May 14, 1977 to Cecelia Saunders, an enrolled member of the Navajo Tribe domiciled on the Navajo reservation. Jeremiah is an enrolled member of the Navajo Tribe. Cecelia Saunders testified that Ernest Yazzie, Jr., an enrolled member of the Navajo Tribe, was the father of Jeremiah. (Transcript I p. 18).

2. Cecelia provided primary care to Jeremiah during the first six months of his life. (Transcript I, p. 19). Cecelia then transferred care of Jeremiah to the maternal grandmother, Bessie Begay, who was the primary caretaker of Jeremiah until he was removed from the reservation. (Transcript I, p. 119).

3. In March, 1980, Jeremiah was removed from the on-reservation home of the maternal grandmother, Bessie Begay, by a maternal aunt, Polly Ann Dick. The grandmother was not present at the time of removal, and did not consent to the removal. The oral consent of the natural mother, Cecelia Saunders, was relayed to Polly Dick by another sister. (Transcript I, pp. 58-59, pp. 67-68).

4. The Navajo Tribe was not informed of the removal of Jeremiah from the reservation. (Transcript I, p. 63.

5. Jeremiah was placed by Polly Dick in the home of Dan and Patricia Carter for adoptive placement on March 23, 1980. Dan and Patricia Carter knew that Jeremiah was to be removed from the reservation for placement with them for approximately one month before the removal actually occurred. (Transcript I, p. 78).

6. On May 30, 1980, Cecelia Saunders appeared in the Fourth Judicial District Court for Utah County and executed a Consent to Adoption. By minute entry, Judge David Sam ordered counsel for Dan and Patricia Carter to obtain the consent of the Navajo Tribe before permitting the adoption to proceed. See, Addendum Exhibits "D" & "E", pp. A-9, 10.

7. On July 14, 1982, Judge David Sam ruled that the domicile of Jeremiah was that of Dan and Patricia Carter. The court stated: "This finding is based upon the fact that the child's residence appears to have been voluntarily and purposely removed from the natural mother, grandmother, and reservation to the petitioners." See, Addendum, Exhibit "E", p. A-10.

8. On October 6, 1983, Judge David Sam entered additional findings on the issue of the domicile of Jeremiah:

3. The Court finds that the relocation of the child with the petitioners was done with the intent to transfer to the Carters full parental rights as it relates to the child and with the further intent to abandon all parental rights in the child.

4. The Court finds further that the natural mother and family have abandoned the child and that prior to the Court's awarding of temporary custody of the minor child to the petitioners on July 14, 1982, the petitioners stood in the position of loco parentis to Jeremiah Halloway.

See, Addendum, Exhibit "F", A-12.

9. On October 12, 1984, the District Court of the Navajo Nation for Window Rock found that, pursuant to Navajo common law and statute, the domicile of Jeremiah has at all times remained within the boundaries of the Navajo reservation, and that the Navajo Tribe has exclusive jurisdiction under tribal statutes and common law and the federal Indian Child Welfare Act to determine the custody of Jeremiah Halloway. See, Addendum, Exhibit "H", p. A-25.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State of Utah and the Fourth Judicial District Court were without jurisdiction under both the U.S. Constitution and the Indian Child Welfare Act to entertain a state adoption proceeding involving Jeremiah Halloway. The District Court had no jurisdiction to receive the consent to adoption executed by the natural mother. Remedial and rehabilitative services were not provided to the mother and were not necessary for her to provide adequate parenting of Jeremiah. The Order of the Navajo Nation was entitled to full faith and credit by the District

Court under the Indian Child Welfare Act and the Interstate Compact.

#### AGRUMENT

#### POINT I. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO RECEIVE THE CONSENT TO ADOPTION EXECUTED BY THE NATURAL MOTHER.

In May, 1980, the Carters paid for Cecelia Saunders to travel to Utah to execute a consent to adoption. Cecelia originally consented on the reservation to the removal of Jeremiah for foster placement in March, 1980, and was informed approximately one month later by her sister, Polly Ann Dick, that Polly had placed Jeremiah for adoption.

The consent to adoption was executed on May 30, 1980 in the district court. Cecelia Saunders was not advised to obtain independent legal counsel and consulted only with the Carters' attorney. Cecelia has testified that the Indian Child Welfare Act (25 U.S.C. §1901, et seq., hereinafter ICWA) was not explained to her. (See, also, Reservation of Consent, April 30, 1982).

The ICWA confirms that Indian tribes have exclusive jurisdiction over any child custody proceeding involving an Indian child who resides or is domiciled within the reservation. 25 U.S.C. §1903(a)(iv). A voluntary consent "shall not be valid

unless executed in writing and recorded before a judge of a court of competent jurisdiction". 25 U.S.C. §1913(a). Jeremiah was clearly domiciled on the reservation at the time the consent to adoption was executed, even under the rulings of the district court in this case, since he had originally been removed only for temporary foster placement, only two months had passed (March 23, 1980 to May 30, 1980), and no intent to terminate parental rights had been formalized.

In such a situation the only "court of competent jurisdiction" to receive Cecelia's consent was the tribal court, since the tribe had "jurisdiction exclusive as to any state" over any adoption proceeding involving Jeremiah while he was domiciled on the reservation. The consent to adoption executed by Cecelia in front of the district court was, therefore, not valid under the express terms of the ICWA since it was not executed before a "court of competent jurisdiction" and hence could not act to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the State over Jeremiah Halloway.

**POINT II. AN INDIVIDUAL ADULT INDIAN WHO IS  
DOMICILED ON AN INDIAN RESERVATION CANNOT  
WAIVE THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE TRIBE  
IN AN ADOPTION PROCEEDING.**

Cecelia Saunders at all relevant times during this proceeding resided on and was domiciled within the Navajo reservation. Bessie Begay, the maternal grandmother of Jeremiah, also resided

and was domiciled exclusively within the boundaries of the Navajo reservation. It is axiomatic that a child born out of wedlock takes the domicile of the mother with whom it lives and retains that domicile until a new one is lawfully acquired. Application of Morse, 7 Utah 2d 312, 324 P.2d 773, 775 (1958); Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §22, comment c (1971). It is, therefore, undisputed that Jeremiah was domiciled on the reservation at least until the consent to adoption was signed on May 30, 1980, either by living with his mother, Id., or with his grandmother as a blood relative under the in loco parentis doctrine. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §22, comment i.

The District Court ruled that the actions of Cecelia Saunders waived the exclusive jurisdiction of the Navajo tribe over Jeremiah by transferring his domicile, and thus tribal jurisdiction, to the State of Utah. This decision was based on Cecelia's consent to adoption, her alleged abandonment of Jeremiah and intent to transfer parental rights to the Carters. This ruling is incorrect because an individual cannot waive the exclusive jurisdiction of a tribe while remaining domiciled on the reservation. Utah Dept. of Bus. Reg., etc. v. Public Service Commission, 602 P. 2d 696, 699 (Utah 1979).

This principle was enunciated in Fisher v. District Court, 424 U.S. 382, 47 L.Ed.2d 106, 96 S.Ct. 943 (1976), where adult tribal members residing on a reservation attempted to invoke and



consent to the jurisdiction of a state court in an adoption proceeding involving an Indian child. The United States Supreme Court confirmed the exclusive jurisdiction of the tribe over the child, holding that such a ruling benefited the class of Indian people "by furthering the congressional policy of Indian self-government." Fisher, 424 U.S. 390-391. The same principle applies when an attempted transfer of parental rights to non-Indians by a mother who resides on a reservation is involved, because the same principles of self-government are involved in that the tribe has a compelling interest in determining whether the placement of the child is in his or her best interests under tribal law or custom. 25 U.S.C. §1901(3). See, Williams v. Lee, 358 U.S. 217, 3 L.Ed.2d 251, 79 S.Ct. 269 (1959); Wakefield v. Little Light, 347 A.2d 228, 237 (Md. App. 1975).

Congress expressly confirmed this principle in the ICWA in the Act's exclusive jurisdiction section, 25 U.S.C. §1911(a). In the legislative history to this section, Congress stated that the section confirmed the holdings of certain Indian child custody cases such as Wisconsin Band of Potowatomies v. Houston, 393 F.Supp. 719 (D.W.D. Mich. 1973); Wakefield v. Little Light, supra; and H.R. REP. NO. 1386, 95th CONG., 2d SESS. 21, reprinted at 1978 U.S. CODE, CONG. & AD. NEWS 7530, 7544. These cases specifically held that an individual Indian cannot confer jurisdiction by consent on the state court because of the

significant tribal interest in "control over the custody of their children", Wakefield v. Little Light, 347 A.2d at 237-38; Wisconsin Band of Potowatomies v. Houston 393 F.Supp. at 738, and both cases involved the custody of Indian children by non-Indian custodians. Nor may a tribe confer its jurisdiction on a state unless express federal law is followed. Wisconsin Band of Potowatomies v. Houston, 393 F.Supp. at 733; Kennerly v. District Court, 400 U.S. 423, 91 S.Ct. 480, 27 L.Ed.2d 507 (1971). It would certainly be anomalous if an Indian cannot confer jurisdiction in an Indian child custody proceeding by temporarily leaving the reservation and attempting to invoke state jurisdiction, yet can accomplish the same result by signing a piece of paper purporting to transfer parental rights to non-Indians off the reservation. Yet this is precisely the effect of the District Court's ruling.

Two states have specifically addressed this issue under the ICWA (both encompassing portions of the Navajo reservation) and both have decided the issue exactly opposite to the ruling of the District Court in the present case. In Matter of Appeal in Pima County Juvenile Action No. S-903, 635 P.2d 187 (Ariz. App. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 1007 (1982), the mother (a minor) gave birth off-reservation, relinquished the child off-reservation for the purpose of adoption, and the child lived off-reservation with the prospective adoptive parents pursuant to a temporary custody

order. Id. at 191. Yet the Arizona Court of Appeals ruled that none of these actions were sufficient to divest the tribe of its exclusive jurisdiction since the child was still domiciled on the reservation. Id. After noting that domicile of an infant born out of wedlock remains that of the mother until a new one is lawfully acquired (Citing, Application of Morse, 7 Utah 2d 312, 324 P.2d 773 (1958)), the court ruled that a consent to adoption did not effect a legal change in the child's domicile, Id. The result of this ruling is that the mother could not confer jurisdiction on the state by her actions.

The same result occurred in Matter of the Adoption of a Baby Child, 700 P.2d 198, No. 8190 (N.M. App., 1985). In that case the Indian mother, a resident of Laguna Pueblo in New Mexico, consented to the adoption of her child by non-Indian adoptive parents before the state court. The trial court ruled that the mother's actions shifted the domicile of the child to the adoptive parents, giving the state court jurisdiction over the adoption proceeding. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that "jurisdiction over the proceedings was exclusive in the tribal court. . ." Id. at 200. After noting that an illegitimate child takes the domicile of its mother, the court ruled that the actions of the mother did not confer jurisdiction on the state court. Id. at 201.

These decisions illustrate the error of the District Court's ruling in the present case. The principle that an individual may not confer jurisdiction on a court by consent is identical to the principle discussed in the previous section that domicile cannot be changed except by judicial decree. The court must first have jurisdiction before it can entertain a consent to transfer parental rights; to hold that the consent or transfer of physical custody gives the state court jurisdiction is an attempt to bootstrap jurisdiction which does not otherwise exist.

The mother in this case, Cecelia Saunders, also could not confer jurisdiction on the state court in this proceeding because she did not have the legal authority under tribal custom to do so. The District Court's failure to recognize the social relations of Navajo people is an express violation of the ICWA, 25 U.S.C. §1901(5); 25 U.S.C. §1903(6).

The Navajo common law of adoption is set forth at Opinion of the Solicitor to the Courts of the Navajo Nation, No. 83-10 (1983) (Attached as Addendum Exhibit "B", pp. A-2-7). This Opinion is entitled to full faith and credit by the State of Utah as a public record of the Navajo tribe. 25 U.S.C. §1911(d). Navajo custom does not recognize the artificial legal relationships created by Anglo-European law wherein adoption results in the termination of the legal rights of the natural parents and the replacement of those rights in the adoptive

parents. Addendum pp. A-2,3. Instead, there is an obligation in family members to support and assist children which is not concerned with the termination of parental rights or the creation of a "legalistic" parent-child relationship.

Similarly, Navajo custom does not agree with the Anglo-European concept that the duties of child-rearing exist only in the nuclear family, and that parents of a child can terminate the legal rights of extended family members, such as grandparents, to visit with or obtain custody of a child. Under Navajo custom there is an "expectation that children are to be taken care of, and that obligation is not simply one of the child's parents." Addendum, p. A-4. Navajo custom "is not concerned with the termination of parental rights or creating a legalistic parent and child relationship because these concepts are irrelevant in a system which has obligations to children that extend beyond the parents." Addendum, p. A-6 (emphasis added). Under Navajo custom, a parent can no more consent to the termination of the rights of extended family members than she could consent to the termination of the parental rights of the father.

The District Court in the present case has refused to recognize this concept, however. It ruled that the consent of the mother freed the child for adoption by the Carters. The maternal grandmother, the custodian of Jeremiah at the time he was removed, did not consent to his removal (Transcript I, at

127) and Cecelia's consent could not affect her legal right to custody of Jeremiah under tribal custom. 25 U.S.C. §1903(b). Cecelia could also not waive the exclusive jurisdiction of the Navajo tribe to determine the grandmother's custodial rights pursuant to tribal law and custom, and therefore her consent could not waive the tribe's exclusive jurisdiction. The lack of understanding of the District Court in this area emphasizes the reasoning that custodial relationships under tribal custom are properly the exclusive province of the tribal court.

**POINT III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN  
IT FOUND THAT REMEDIAL AND REHABILITATIVE  
SERVICES HAD BEEN PROVIDED TO THE MOTHER  
AND PROVED UNSUCCESSFUL.**

The ICWA requires that "[a]ny party seeking to effect a ...termination of parental rights to an Indian child under State law shall satisfy the court that active efforts have been made to provide remedial services and rehabilitative programs designed to prevent the breakup of the Indian family and that these efforts have proved unsuccessful." 25 U.S.C. § 1912(d). In its order of January 28, 1985, the District Court found that "the burden of rehabilitation and working with the family has been met." Addendum, p. A-23. This finding was in error because the court did not apply the proper standard in determining whether such services had been provided.

The legislative history of the ICWA makes clear that remedial services must be designed to help the parents or Indian

custodians. The BIA Guidelines state that it must be demonstrated that "efforts have been made to alleviate the need to remove the Indian child from his or her parents or Indian custodians." BIA Guidelines,, 44 Fed. Reg. 67584, 67592 (§ D.2) (Emphasis added). The congressional history emphasizes that actual efforts must be made to help the parents of an Indian child before termination can occur. See House Report, supra, at 22.

Two ICWA cases have addressed the issue of remedial services. In Matter of Appeal in Pima County Juvenile Action, 635 P.2d at 193, the Arizona Court of Appeals concluded that section 1912(d) required an "attempt to preserve the parent-child relationship" (emphasis added). See, Matter of Charles, 688 P.2d. 1354 (Or. App. 1984), appeal pending, the Oregon Court of Appeals. The most disturbing findings of the District Court appear at page 3 of the court's opinion. Reference is made to hypothetical testimony of two representatives of the Navajo Division of Social Welfare that have nothing to do with removal and rehabilitative efforts. First, reference is made to Ella Shirley's general background testimony on the "shared care" concept in Navajo culture. The court dismissed this testimony by concluding that all the relatives were unsuitable to care for Jeremiah even though the most recent evidence was five years old. In addition, this testimony had nothing to do with the care which

could be given by the mother. Second, the Court quoted testimony by Ella Shirley in response to a hypothetical question that if Jeremiah could not be placed with the extended family, would she have thought about allowing adoption outside the Navajo tribe. Transcript I, p. 109. Ms. Shirley stated that she would place Jeremiah with another Navajo family.

The District Court found that "[t]he social worker admits based upon those facts rehabilitation with the natural family would have been discontinued and the child would have been placed with another Navajo family." The conclusion made by the District Court based upon the testimony of the social worker, Lauren Bernally, is improper and has nothing to do with remedial efforts. Ms. Bernally was testifying on the critical interest the Navajo tribe has in its children, and stated only that even if in the extended family the natural mother could not care for Jeremiah, the interest of the tribe in retaining him in Navajo culture is such that they would have placed him in another Navajo home. Ms. Bernally's testimony had nothing to do with actual efforts made to help the mother retain Jeremiah. Indeed, Ms. Bernally testified that no remedial or rehabilitative services were necessary because the mother had improved her situation on her own. Transcript I, p. 124. As stated before, the testimony of Dr. Samuel Roll, expert witness for the Navajo tribe, showed that Cecelia and Arthur Saunders were fit parents and that they



had no conditions which would be detrimental to Jeremiah. Transcript II, pp. 237-39.

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