2002

In the Matter of the Adoption of Jeremiah Halloway v. Navajo Nation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION
TO RECEIVE THE CONSENT TO ADOPTION
EXECUTED BY THE NATURAL MOTHER.

The appellants contend in Point I of their brief that Cecelia Saunders, at the time her consent for adoption was executed on May 30, 1980, was not advised as to the content of the ICWA. That assertion is totally inaccurate. The natural mother, Cecelia Saunders, has misrepresented the facts to almost every party concerned in the case. Cecelia Saunders informed the Tribe for a long period of time that the child was only be to placed for foster care and was very disgruntled when the Tribe found out that she had given up the child for adoption. Testimony at trial was contradictory. It was Judge Sam, who after the hearing on April 7, 1983, explicitly found that the natural mother was advised at the time of her consent as to the ICWA. The court found that the natural mother consented to the placement and did abandon the child. (R. 94).

The ICWA explicitly indicates that state courts have jurisdiction over a child custody proceeding or a case in which termination of parental rights is sought. 25 U.S.C. § 1911(b) provides in pertinent part as follows:

In any state court proceeding for the foster care placement of, or termination of parental rights to, an Indian child not domiciled or residing within the reservation of the Indian child's tribe, the court, in the absence of good cause to the contrary, shall transfer such proceeding to the jurisdiction of the tribe, absent objection of either parent, upon the petition of either parent, or the Indian custodian, or the Indian child's

tribe: provided, that such transfer shall be subject to declination by the tribal court of such tribe.

In the court's ruling of July 14, 1982, the court explicitly found that based upon the voluntary change of residence of the minor child by the natural mother, grandmother, and reservation, the domicile of the minor child was with the petitioners. The court further found in view of that fact and the long period of time the child had been with the petitioners, that there was "good cause" for the court to take jurisdiction of the case.

The argument advanced by the Navajo Tribe is deceptive and has been made throughout the proceedings. 25 U.S.C § 1911 is divided into two subparts, (a) and (b). Subsection (a) states that the Indian tribe has exclusive jurisdiction when the child resides or is domiciled within the reservation. However, subsection (b), clearly provides that when the child is not domiciled or residing within the reservation, that the state court has jurisdiction. Based upon the finding that the child was not domiciled or residing within the reservation, Judge Sam made his finding that the state court had jurisdiction to hear the matter.

A review of the legislative history of the ICWA leads to the clear conclusion that the Act contemplates adjudication of Indian adoptive matters by state courts, and that such court adjudication

comports fully with the purposes of the Act. The house report on H.R. 12533, which became the ICWA of 1978, stressed that the purpose of the bill was to provide "minimal safeguards with respect to state proceedings for Indian child custody," and to "impose certain procedural burdens upon state courts in order to protect the substantive rights of Indian children, Indian parents, and Indian tribes in state court proceedings for child custody." 1978 U.S. Code Congressional and Administrative News, pp. 7540-41 (emphasis added). In response to concerns raised by the Department of Justice that the bill may have impermissibly intruded into areas of traditional state interest, the House reports:

. . . the provisions of the Bill do not oust the state from the exercise of its legitimate police powers in regulating domestic relations. . . .

While the committee does not feel that it is necessary or desireable to oust the States of their traditional jurisdiction over Indian children falling within their geographic limits, it does feel the need to establish minimum federal standards and procedural safeguards in the State Indian child proceedings. . . . Id.

The report also emphasized the "duty of state courts, otherwise having jurisdiction over the subject matter, to enforce federal substantive rights," Id., at 7541; see also, 7535.

During House debate on the act, Representative Udall, who sponsored the Bill, also indicated that the Act "establishes minimum federal standards and procedural safeguards to protect Indian families when faced with child custody proceedings against them in state agencies or courts." Congressional Record, Vol. 124, part 28, p. 38102. In response to concerns raised by the Justice Department regarding the apparent intrusion into the state's authority to adjudicate domestic matters, Representative Udall continued:

. . . where an Indian child is residing or domiciled off an Indian reservation, the State has full jurisdiction over the child in a custody proceeding, including the power to remove the child from the parents on an emergency basis to protect to the child. Id., at 38107, (emphasis added). See also, 38107; Congressional Record, Vol. 123, part 29 p. 37226 Senate Debated.

POINT II

THE MINOR CHILD, MICHAEL CARTER,
WAS DOMICILED WITH THE PETITIONERS
IN UTAH.

There can be no question that the general rule is that a child born out of wedlock takes the domicile of the mother with whom it lives. Application of Morse, 7 Utah 2d 312, 324 P.2d 773, 775 (1958); Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws, § 22, Comment C (1971). In analyzing the issue of domicile, it must be understood that the ICWA does not dictate the definition of

"domicile," but leaves that issue for the state courts to determine based upon the law of the jurisdiction. According to the guidelines published by the Department of the Interior's Bureau of Indian Affairs, many commentators recommend that the Act include a uniform definition of residence and domicile. That recommendation, however, was rejected. The guidelines to the ICWA state as follows:

Such definitions were not included because these terms are well defined under existing state law. There is no indication that these state law definitions tend to undermine, in any way, the purposes of the Act. Recommending special definitions for the purposes of this Act alone would simply provide unnecessary complications in the law.

44 Fed. Reg. 67583, 67585 (1979).

The problem with the law cited by the appellant is that the trial court was not dealing with a case in which the domicile of an illegitimate child was to be considered. The trial court was dealing with a case in which the mother in March of 1980, allowed her child to be taken from the reservation and placed with the petitioners for adoption. After relinquishing physical custody of the child in March of 1980, with the intent to deprive herself permanently thereof, she traveled to Utah on May 30, 1980, and gave her written voluntary consent to the adoption. It was not until April 30, 1982, that the natural mother signed an Affidavit and Revocation of the Consent to Adoption. (R. 15). Thus, for a

period exceeding two years, it was the intent of the natural mother to give the young child up for adoption.

When, as in the present case, the child has been abandoned by both parents, the Restatement says that if "no guardian of the child's person is appointed, the child shall acquire the domicile at the home of a grandparent or other person who stands in loco parentis to him and with whom he lives." Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Law, § 22, Comment i (1969) (emphasis added). The Comment continues: "The child should therefore have a domicile at the home of the person who stands in loco parentis to him and with whom he lives even though this person is not a blood relative."

The decisions of this State are in accord. In one such case, the Court held that the appellant, though not a blood relative, appeared to have assumed the status of a person in loco parentis. The case was remanded to the trial court for a hearing to determine whether the appellant was in loco parentis. Gribble v. Gribble, 583 P.2d 64 (Utah 1978). The Court stated:

The term "in loco parentis" means in the place of a parent, and a "person in loco parentis" is one who has assumed the status and obligations of a parent without formal adoption. Whether or not one assumes this status depends on whether that person intends to assume that obligation.

Gribble, 583 P.2d at 66 (emphasis in the original). Although the Carters did not formally adopt Jeremiah from March of 1980 to the time the consent of the natural mother was revoked in April of 1982, there was no question that all of the parties assumed in March of 1980, that the Carters would stand in the position of "loco parentis" to the child. It was for that purpose that the child was transported to Utah. It was the clear understanding of all parties in the case. The trial court granted the Carters temporary custody of the minor child on July 14, 1982. (R. 35).

The Restatement, suggests a second way by which Jeremiah's domicile may have shifted off the reservation. Comment "f" of § 22 states that an "emancipated child may acquire a domicile of choice, irrespective of his parent's domicile." With regard to how a child who has yet to reach his majority becomes emancipated, the Comment states:

[T]he majority [of states] insist upon no more than that the minor, having obtained years of discretion, maintain a separate way of life, either with his parent's consent or because they are dead or have abandoned him.

In Hall v. Anderson, 562 P.2d 1250 (Utah 1977), the Court held that to find abandonment, it is not necessary to show that the parent has affirmatively abandoned, but rather, in most cases it can be better determined from the parents' actions than from the words.

In Wilson v. Peirce, 14 Utah 2d 317, 383 P.2d 925 (1963), the Court held that where parents exhibit an intent to completely and permanently abandon a child, it matters not whether the parent has left the child with others who may be expected to care for the child or whether it is left to mere chance of whatever fate might follow it.

Similarly, in Robertson v. Hutchinson, 560 P.2d 1110 (Utah 1977), the Court found that the natural parent had abandoned the child so as to permit adoption of the child without consent of natural parent where it was shown upon clear and convincing evidence that the natural parent had either expressed an intention, or so conducted himself as to clearly indicate an intention, to relinquish parental control and reject parental responsibilities to the child. Completely in line with the case law applicable to the matter, Judge Sam in his ruling of July 14, 1982, Exhibit "A" hereto, (R. 35), found that the domicile of the minor child was that of the petitioners and based that finding upon the fact that the child's residence was voluntarily and purposefully removed from the mother, grandmother and reservation to the petitioners.

One of the key cases discussing the issue In the Matter of Dureya, 115 Arizona 86, 563 P.2d 885 (1977). In that case, three petitions for termination of the parent-child relationship

were filed and concerned three American Indian children who were enrolled with the White Mountain Apache Tribe. The natural parents of the children were White Mountain Apaches and they moved to dismiss the petition on the basis that the State Juvenile Court had no subject matter jurisdiction. The juvenile court did dismiss the petitions and entered an order which found that the Tribe had at least concurrent if not sole jurisdiction. The petitioners appealed.

The Supreme Court, on appeal, found that one of the Indian children was placed by his unwed mother with the petitioners when he was six weeks old. The Court found that his mother who wished to return to school, brought him off the reservation to Lakeside, Arizona, where petitioners lived. At the time of the hearing the child was four and a half years old and had lived continuously with the petitioners since May of 1972, and had seen his natural mother only once during that time.

Another one of the children was placed with the petitioners in September of 1969, by an elderly missionary woman.

The third child was placed with petitioners by a worker from a social agency in Arizona where both of her parents were jailed there. A few months after the natural parents were released, they visited the child in Lakeside and at one time, took the child back with them for a short while, but returned the child to

petitioners in January of 1981. That child had resided with the petitioners for approximately six years.

All three children had subsequently moved with the petitioners to Tucson, Arizona. The court on appeal stated explicitly that the State of Arizona had a very substantial interest in all of the children and found that the juvenile court erred in failing to take jurisdiction in the proceeding. Matter of Dureya, supra., at 887.

Another important case on the issue is that of In Re Cantrell, 159 Mont. 66, 495 P.2d 179 (1972). In that case, the order of the district court in awarding the custody and care of a child on the basis of abandonment was affirmed by the supreme court. The court found that the natural father at the time the order was made was charged in justice court for willful neglect and that the child was abandoned and helpless in Valley County, not on the Indian reservation. The court found the father had been abusive, and that the mother had the child taken from her by order of the Tribal Court for parental neglect. The court concluded that the child had been abandoned. The court explicitly stated:

However, the "fact" of neglect, that of abandonment of a helpless infant, occurred off the reservation and continued for over a year off the reservation. The mother's only effort, to all practical purposes, was to remain in the sanctuary of the reservation

oblivious to the needs of her child. This fact alone removes the case from the heretofore cited Indian jurisdiction case.

In Re Cantrell, at 182.

Many cases, while acknowledging a minor has the same domicile as the parent with whom the child lives, have stated that the domicile of the child who is the ward of the court is domiciled at the location of the court. Betts v. Betts, 3 Wash. App. 53, 58, 473 P.2d 403 (1970). Accord, Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Law, § 22 (1971).

Another similar case is In the Adoption of John Doe, 89 New Mexico 606, 555 P.2d 906 (1976). In that case, the mother of a child, Navajo, placed the child voluntarily with the adoption agency. The petitioners were non-Indians and were challenged by the child's father, grandfather, and as amicus curiae, the association on American Indian Affairs, Inc. That Association challenged the jurisdiction of the New Mexico Court. The Court replied:

The Association claims that the Navajo Nation has exclusive jurisdiction to determine the permanent custody of its minor members. Decisions concerning such a jurisdictional claim are based on cases where the child was a resident of or domiciled on an Indian reservation. Fisher v. District Court, 424 U.S. 382, 96 Sup. Ct. 943; Wisconsin Potowatomies, etc. v. Houston, 393 F.Supp. 719 (BC Mich. 1973); Wakefield v. Littlewhite, 276 Maryland 333, 347 A.2d 228 (1975). The record does not show that a child either

resided or was domiciled on the Navajo reservation . . . whatever concurrent jurisdiction the courts of the Navajo Nation might have, New Mexico has an interest in the welfare of a child who was in New Mexico and not within the boundary of the reservation. [citations omitted].

Adoption of Doe, at 916-917. See also, DeCoteau v. District County Court for the Tenth Judicial District, 420 U.S. 425, 95 Sup. Ct. 1082 (1975), reh. denied, 421 U.S. 939 (1975); Application In the Matter of Montoya, 85 N.M 356, 512 P.2d 384, (1973); Uppen v. Superior Court, 116 Ariz. 81 567, P.2d 12 (1977).

Although the cases cited above were decided before the passage of ICWA, all that were decided on the basis of whether or not the Indian children were domiciled on the reservation. The state court's determination of domicile would be the same whether or not the ICWA had been enacted.

One final matter should be noted. Utah Code Ann. § 78-3-48 (1975 as amended) states in pertinent part as follows:

The court may decree an involuntary termination of all parental rights with respect to one or both parents if the Court finds either (a), (b), or (c) as follows . . .

(b) that the parent or parents have abandoned the child. It shall be prima facie evidence of abandonment that the parent or parents, although having legal custody of the child, have surrendered physical custody of the child and for a period of six months following such surrender, have not manifested to the child or the person having the physical custody of the child, the firm intention to

resume physical custody or to make arrangements for the care of the child; . . .

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